

Fate of Xenobiotics in Foliar Pesticide Deposits

Kenneth P. Bentson*

Contents

I.	Introduction	25
II.	Foliar Penetration	27
	A. Empirical Foliar Penetration Studies	27
	B. Mechanistic Foliar Penetration Studies	39
III.	Volatilization	40
	A. Physical Chemistry 1	40
		42
	C. Microcosm and Greenhouse Studies	43
IV.	Photodegradation	44
	A. Laboratory Investigations of Photodegradation	44
	B. Photodegradation on Foliage in Field and Microcosm Studies 1	45
V.	Discussion and Synthesis 1	47
		48
	B. A Conceptual View of Substance Dynamics in Foliar Deposits	50
	C. Fate Modeling Approaches	53
		54
VI.	Conclusion	54
Sum	mary	55
Refe	rences	56

I. Introduction

The environmental fate of pesticides and other xenobiotic materials initially within pesticide deposits on foliage has received little holistic study. Spencer et al. (1973) noted that there has been extensive research on volatilization from soils, but little has been directed at residues on foliage. Although other investigators note herbicide volatilization from foliage is the primary source of residues that cause downwind damage to susceptible crops (Thompson 1983), there is still little data and theoretical development of this topic. In a recent review of photodegradation of herbicides, the subject of photodegradation occurrence in deposits on leaf surfaces is not mentioned (Marcheterre et al. 1988). A recent review of the persistence of pesticides on foliage not only summarizes the many studies that have contributed information to this area, but also stresses that most studies

^{*}Research Chemist, USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, 3200 Jefferson Way, Corvallis, OR 97331.

^{© 1990} Springer-Verlag New York Inc.
Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, Vol. 114.

of pesticides on foliage are highly empirical and do not define the mechanisms of residue dissipation (Willis and McDowell 1987).

The persistence of pesticides in foliar deposits is important in assessments of field worker exposure to pesticides. The combined dissipative and degradative (dispositional) processes that operate on a material in a spray deposit on foliage determine the quantity of dislodgable residues remaining at different times after application. Dislodgable residue quantities are important in determining the potential dermal exposure of workers who reenter fields (Iwata 1980; Knaak 1980). Reentry intervals are useful values for protecting field workers from toxic exposures.

The chemical environment of foliar deposits is unique in its complexity. Plant cuticles are a complex mixture of long-chain esters, aldehydes, ketones, and alcohols (Baker 1980; Chamel 1986). These materials assume different physical shapes, such as plates or needles, that are characteristic of particular plant species. A spray deposit consists of a complex mixture of the pesticidal compound, pesticide synthesis contaminants, surfactants, solvents, occasionally clays, and other adjuvants.

The meteorological environment has a strong influence on the dissipation and degradation of xenobiotic substances in foliar pesticide deposits. Meteorological conditions often change rapidly and randomly. Temperature is a measure of the heat in a system that drives diffusive phenomena and influences the rate of chemical reactions. Humidity and plant-moisture relations are strongly influenced by heat, but also may be subject to random fluctuations. Insolation both drives some dissipative processes by the addition of thermal energy and reduces the quantity of susceptible compounds in a deposit via photodegradation (Choudry and Webster 1985; Crosby 1976; Marcheterre et al. 1988). Deposits are subject to widely different levels in insolative flux as a result of canopy structure, diurnal patterns, and clouds.

An extensive amount of work has focused on the fate of pesticides in the soil, air, and water environments. Many reviews of processes that occur in these environments are available (Choudry and Webster 1985; Jury et al. 1987; Laskowski et al. 1983; Marcheterre et al. 1988; Smith et al. 1983; Spencer et al. 1973; Suntio et al. 1988; Swann et al. 1983; Woodrow et al. 1983). But there are few reviews specifically addressing the disposition of pesticides in foliar deposits (Ebeling 1963; Quistad and Menn 1983). This review bridges this gap in the literature, and provides an overview of the information on xenobiotic substance dynamics in relation to pesticide deposits on foliage.

The objectives of this review are:

- 1. To review research approaches used to characterize the volatilization, photodegradation, and foliar penetration of pesticides.
- 2. To identify limitations of these research approaches with respect to (a) actual deposit composition; (b) utility of the data for environmental fate modeling;

- (c) interactions between processes; (d) influence of environmental conditions, such as temperature, humidity, and insolation on pesticide dissipation and degradation; and (e) the usefulness of the data for risk assessments.
- 3. To develop a mechanistic perspective on the processes involved with the disposition of substances in pesticide deposits on foliage.
- 4. To discuss approaches to modeling the fate of chemicals in pesticide deposits on foliage.

The major processes affecting residues in pesticide deposits on foliage (besides washoff by rain) are foliar penetration, volatilization, and photodegradation. In the following sections, the traditional approaches for studying these processes are evaluated. A conceptual framework for the generation of hypotheses on the influence of these processes and other factors on the fate of residues in pesticide deposits on foliage is presented.

II. Foliar Penetration

Most investigations of foliar penetration (absorption) have concerned herbicides, because the absorption of an herbicide into leaves is a prerequisite for their eventual efficacy. A few studies have explicitly looked at foliar penetration by insecticides (Makary et al. 1981; Sarode and Rattan 1982; Takahashi et al. 1985).

Two general designs have been used to study foliar penetration. Most common are empirical studies of foliar absorption, usually used as part of a broader study of foliar penetration, translocation, and metabolism of herbicides. The other approach has been to isolate plant cuticles and determine the rate of pesticide diffusion through the cuticle. This approach is predicated on the belief that foliar penetration is solely a function of cuticular composition and structure.

A literature search for 1977 through 1988 produced the studies shown in Table 1. The studies have been categorized according to the processes and factors that were considered in the protocols. Table 1 is a survey showing the different amount of attention given to various critical aspects, in terms of environmental fate, of foliar penetration of pesticides from deposits.

A. Empirical Foliar Penetration Studies

1. Plant Materials. In empirical foliar penetration studies, whole plants, usually seedlings, are used as the experimental substrates. The plants are either crops, target weeds, or a combination of both, to which the pesticide is commonly applied. The plants are frequently grown in greenhouses or growth chambers (Table 1). Rarely are field-grown plants used as experimental materials. Baker (1980), in a review of the effects of cuticular components on herbicide absorption, indicates many studies show that plant growth environment has an influence on leaf cuticular structure and development. Therefore, penetration of an herbicide or other substance into foliage of a greenhouse- or growth chamber-

Table 1. A survey of foliar penetration studies; conditions and factors investigated that bear on the environmental fate of herbicides deposited on foliage.

Factor or process	Observation	References
Factor or process Metabolism/ translocation	Observation Measured	Akey and Morrison (1983); Baker and Hunt (1988); Bloomberg and Wax (1978); Bovey et al. (1983); Bovey et al. (1983); Bovey et al. (1987); Caseley and Coupland (1980); Devine and Vanden Born (1985); Gillespie and Miller (1983); Haderlie (1980); Hamburg and McCall (1988); Hashimoto et al. (1979); Hogue (1978); Hook and Glenn (1984); Jordan (1977); Kells et al. (1984); Kitchen et al. (1980); McCall et al. (1986a); McCall et al. (1986b); Muller et al. (1984); Norris and Freed (1966); Nomura and Hilton (1982);
		O'Sullivan and Kossatz (1984); Petersen and Swisher (1985); Peterson et al. (1985); Reddy and Bendixen (1988); Richardson (1975); Richardson and Grant (1977);
		Richardson (1979); Richardson (1980); Ritter and Coble (1981); Schultz and Burnside (1980); Sharma et al. (1978); Shaner and Robson (1985); Taylor et al. (1981);
		Todd and Stobbe (1977); Veerabhadraiah et al. (1980); Waldecker and Wyse (1985); Wills (1978); Wills (1984); Wills and McWhorter (1981)
Environmental fate	Measured	Bentson (1989); Bovey et al. (1983); Caseley and Coupland (1980); Hamburg and McCall (1988); McCall (1988); McCall et al. (1986a); McCall et al. (1986b)
	Suspected effects	Babiker and Duncan (1975); Bovey et al. (1987); O'Sullivan and Kossatz (1984)
Temperature	Different levels	Bentson (1989); Gillespie and Miller (1983); Jordan (1977); Kells et al. (1984); McCall (1988); McCall et al. (1986a); McCall et al. (1986b); McWhorter and Wills (1978); McWhorter et al. (1980); Schultz and Burreide (1980); Sharma and Venden Born
		Burnside (1980); Sharma and Vanden Born (1970); Sharma et al. (1978); Taylor et al. (1981); Willingham and Graham (1988); Wills (1978); Wills (1984); Wills and McWhorter (1981)
Humidity	Different levels	Gillespie and Miller (1983); Babiker and Duncan (1975); Jordan (1977); McWhorter

Table 1. (Continued)

Factor or process	Observation	References
Humidity (cont.)		and Wills (1978); McWhorter et al. (1980); Sharma and Vanden Born (1970); Taylor et al. (1981); Willingham and Graham (1988);
		Wills (1978); Wills (1984); Wills and McWhorter (1981)
Time course Babiker	Different times	Akey and Morrison (1983); Duncan (1975) Baker and Hunt (1988); Bentson (1989); Bloomberg and Wax (1978); Bovey et al. (1983); Bovey et al. (1987); de Ruiter et al. (1988); Devine and Vanden Born (1985);
		Eberlein and Behrens (1984); Gillespie and Miller (1983); Haderlie (1980); Hamburg and McCall (1988); Hashimoto et al.
		(1979); Hook and Glenn (1984); Kells et al (1984); Kitchen et al. (1980); McCall
		(1988); McCall et al. (1986a); McCall et al (1986b); McWhorter and Wills (1978); McWhorter et al. (1980); Muller et al.
		(1984); Nomura and Hilton (1982); O'Sullivan and Kossatz (1984); Reddy and Bendixen (1988); Richard and Slife (1979);
		Richardson (1975); Richardson and Grant (1977); Richardson (1979); Richardson (1980); Riederer and Schonherr (1985); Ritter and Coble (1981); Schultz and Burn-
		side (1980); Shafer and Bukovac (1988); Sharma and Vanden Born (1970); Sharma e al. (1978); Shaner and Robson (1985); Todo and Stobbe (1977)
	Approaches steady state	Akey and Morrison (1983); Baker and Hunt (1988); Bentson (1989); Bloomberg and Wax (1978); Caseley and Coupland (1980); Devine and Vanden Born (1985); Eberlein and Behrens (1984); Haderlie (1980); Hamburg and McCall (1988);
		Hashimoto et al. (1979); Hook and Glenn (1984); Kells et al. (1984); McCall (1988); McCall et al. (1986a); McCall et al. (1986b); McWhorter and Wills (1978);
		McWhorter et al. (1980); Nomura and Hilton (1982); Richardson (1975); Richardson (1979); Richardson (1980); Schultz and
		Burnside (1980); Shafer and Bukovac

Table 1. (Continued)			
Factor or process	Observation	References	
Time course		(1988); Sharma and Vanden Born (1970);	
(cont.)		Todd and Stobbe (1977)	
Surfactants/	Comparisons	Babiker and Duncan (1975); de Ruiter et al.	
adjuvants		(1988); Haderlie (1980); Hamburg and	
		McCall (1988); McCall et al. (1986b); Peterson et al. (1985); Shafer and Bukovac	
		(1988); Willingham and Graham (1988);	
		Zabkiewicz et al. (1988)	
	Absence vs.	Boyev et al. (1987); Baker and Hunt (1988);	
	presence	Peterson et al. (1985); Richard and Slife	
		(1979); Sharma and Vanden Born (1970);	
		Taylor et al. (1981); Veerabhadraiah et al.	
		(1980); Wills (1978)	
	Suspected effects	Caseley and Coupland (1980); Whitehouse	
		et al. (1982)	
Formulation	Noncommercial	Akey and Morrison (1983); Babiker and	
		Duncan (1975); Baker and Hunt (1988);	
		Baur et al. (1971); Caseley and Coupland	
		(1980); de Ruiter et al. (1988); Devine and Vanden Born (1985); Haderlie (1980);	
		Hamburg and McCall (1988); Hashimoto et	
		al. (1979); Hook and Glenn (1984); Jordan	
		(1977); Kells et al. (1984); King and	
		Radosevich (1979); Kitchen et al. (1980);	
		Muller et al. (1984); Nomura and Hilton	
		(1982); Norris and Freed (1966); Norris	
		(1974); Petersen and Swisher (1985); Reddy	
		and Bendixen (1988); Richard and Slife	
		(1979); Richardson and Grant (1977);	
		Richardson (1979); Richardson (1980);	
		Riederer and Schonherr (1985); Ritter and	
		Coble (1981); Sargent and Blackman	
		(1969); Shafer and Bukovac (1988); Sharma et al. (1978); Shaner and Robson (1985);	
		Todd and Stobbe (1977); Veerabhadraiah et	
		al. (1980); Willingham and Graham (1988);	
		Wills (1978); Wills (1984); Wills and	
		McWhorter (1981); Zabkiewicz et al. (1988)	
	Commercial	Bentson (1989); Bovey et al. (1983); Bovey	
		et al. (1987); Eberlein and Behrens (1984);	
		Gillespie and Miller (1983); McCall et al.	
		(1986b); McWhorter and Wills (1978);	
		McWhorter et al. (1980); O'Sullivan and	

Table 1. (Continued)

Factor or process	Observation	References
Formulation (cont.)		Kossatz (1984); Peterson et al. (1985); Richard and Slife (1979); Richardson (1975); Schultz and Burnside (1980); Sharma and Vanden Born (1970); Taylor et al. (1981); Waldecker and Wyse (1985); Whitehouse et al. (1982)
Quantification	Parent compound	Babiker and Duncan (1975); Baur et al. (1971); Bentson (1989); Bovey et al. (1983); Bovey et al. (1987); Caseley and Coupland (1980); Hashimoto et al. (1979); Hogue (1978); Muller et al. (1984); Nomura and Hilton (1982); Petersen and Swisher (1985); Richardson (1975); Ritter and Coble (1981); Sharma and Vanden Born (1970)
	Radioactivity	Akey and Morrison (1983); Baker and Hunt (1988); Bloomberg and Wax (1978); de Ruiter et al. (1988); Devine and Vanden Born (1985); Eberlein and Behrens (1984); Gillespie and Miller (1983); Haderlie (1980); Hamburg and McCall (1988); Hook and Glenn (1984); Jordan (1977); Kells et al. (1984); King and Radosevich (1979); Kitchen et al. (1980); McCall et al. (1986a); McCall et al. (1986b); McWhorter and Wills (1978); McWhorter et al. (1980); Norris and Freed (1966); Norris (1974); O'Sullivan and Kossatz (1984); Peterson et al. (1985); Reddy and Bendixen (1988); Richard and Slife (1979); Richardson and Grant (1977); Richardson (1979); Richardson (1980); Shafer and Bukovac (1988); Shultz and Burnside (1980); Sharma and Vanden Born (1978); Shaner and Robson (1985); Todd and Stobbe (1977); Veerabhadraiah et al. (1980); Waldecker and Wyse (1985); Whitehouse et al. (1982); Willingham and Graham (1988); Wills (1978); Wills (1984); Wills and
Deposit characteristics	Measured	McWhorter (1981); Zabkiewicz et al. (1988) Baker and Hunt (1988); Bentson (1989); Bovey et al. (1987); Eberlein and Behrens (1984); Taylor et al. (1981); Todd and Stobbe (1977); Whitehouse et al. (1982); Zabkiewicz et al. (1988)

Factor or process	Observation	References
Factor or process Plant growth environment	Observation Greenhouse	References Akey and Morrison (1983); Babiker and Duncan (1975); Baker and Hunt (1988); Bloomberg and Wax (1978); Bovey et al. (1983); Bovey et al. (1987); Caseley and Coupland (1980); de Ruiter et al. (1988); Devine and Vanden Born (1985); Eberlein and Behrens (1984); Gillespie and Miller (1983); Haderlie (1980); Hamburg and McCall (1988); Hashimoto et al. (1979); Hogue (1978); Hook and Glenn (1984); Jordan (1977); Kells et al. (1984); King and Radosevich (1979); Kitchen et al. (1980); McCall et al. (1986a); McCall et al. (1986b); McCall (1988); McWhorter and Wills (1978); McWhorter et al. (1980); Muller et al. (1984); Nomura and Hilton (1982); Petersen et al. (1985); Peterson et al. (1985); Reddy and Bendixen (1988); Richard and Slife (1979); Richardson and Grant (1977); Richardson (1979); Richardson (1980); Riederer and Schonherr (1985); Ritter and Coble (1981); Sargent and Blackman (1969); Schultz and Burnside (1980); Sharma and Vanden Born (1970); Sharma et al. (1978); Shaner and Robson (1985); Taylor et al. (1981); Todd and Stobbe (1977); Waldecker and Wyse (1985) Whitehouse et al. (1982); Willingham and Graham (1988); Wills (1978); Wills (1984); Wills and McWhorter (1981); Zabkiewicz et al. (1988)
	Field	Bentson (1989); Bovey et al. (1983); Norris and Freed (1966); Norris (1974); Richardson (1975); Shafer and Bukovac (1988); Sharma and Vanden Born (1970)
Concentration	Different levels	Baur et al. (1971); Bovey et al. (1987); Kells et al. (1984); Richardson and Grant (1977); Wills (1984)
Plant moisture status		Akey and Morrison (1983); Kells et al. (1984); McWhorter et al. (1980); Waldecke and Wyse (1985); Willingham and Graham (1988); Wills (1978)

grown seedling may not be representative of the absorption behavior that would occur in the field.

Foliar penetration of a specific substance depends greatly on the plant species. Bentson (1989) shows that foliar penetration of triclopyr herbicide (butoxyethyl ester of [(3,5,6-trichloro-2-pyridinyl)oxy]acetic acid) into giant chinkapin [Castanopsis chrysophylla (Dougl.)A. DC.] was greater than into Pacific madrone (Arbutus menziesii Pursh.) under identical environmental conditions. Both of these trees grow in similar environments and are evergreen with schlerophillized foliage. Differences in foliar penetration between species using identical treatment solutions and growth environments have been shown by others (Eberlein and Behrens 1984; McWhorter et al. 1980; Sharma and Vanden Born 1970).

2. Pesticide Formulation. Pesticides used in penetration studies are frequently not in the form applied in the field. Often the parent acid form of an herbicide is applied rather than the amine or ester forms that are used in the field (Akey and Morrison 1983; Baur et al. 1971; King and Radosevich 1979; Norris 1974; Richardson 1975; Richardson and Grant 1977; Riederer and Schonherr 1985; Sargent and Blackman 1969; Schultz and Burnside 1980; Veerabhadraiah et al. 1980). Some investigators, however, have shown that nonionic forms of pesticides are more readily absorbed by foliage than ionic forms. For instance, Norris and Freed (1966) found that the extent of absorption of 2,4-D ([2,4-dichlorophenoxy]acetic acid) and 2,4,5-T ([2,4,5-trichlorophenoxy]acetic acid) into bigleaf maple (Acer macrophyllum Pursh.) depends on the form of the material in the rank ester > acid > amine salt (solution pH unstated).

Lipid solubility of herbicides is an important factor in their ability to penetrate foliage (Baker 1980). Baker and Hunt (1988) investigated the foliar penetration of several compounds with a range in lipophilicity (expressed as the partition coefficient). They found that the greatest foliar penetration occurred with compounds of medium to high lipophilicity. This relation held in the presence of surfactants. Cuticular penetration into yellow foxtail plants [Seteria glauca (L.) Beauv.] of six aryloxyphenoxypropionates depends on structural class (pyridinyloxy, quinoxalinyloxy, or phenoxy) rather than on solubility of lipophilicity (Hamburg and McCall 1988). Structural class has a greater effect on cuticular penetration than formulation. The number of compounds in each structural class, however, limits conclusions on solubility and lipophilicity effects of chemicals on cuticular penetration in this study. These studies indicate that the chemical structure and consequent chemical properties play an important role in foliar penetration of pesticides.

Pesticide formulations have a pronounced effect on foliar penetration. The presence of a surfactant has often been demonstrated to enhance foliar penetration by herbicides (Babiker and Duncan 1975; Bovey et al. 1987; Haderlie 1980;

Peterson et al. 1985; Richard and Slife 1979; Sharma and Vanden Born 1970; Taylor et al. 1981; Veerabhadraiah et al. 1980).

The effect of a surfactant is variable. Foliar penetration depends partly on the chemistry of the pesticide, which interacts with the chemical properties of the surfactant and leaf cuticle. Babiker and Duncan (1975) found that the foliar penetration of asulam (methyl sulfanilylcarbamate) into bean (*Vicia faba* var. Maris Bead) is enhanced by nonionic ester and ether surfactants and decreases relative to the pure compound by nonionic alcoholic surfactants; some surfactants that increased penetration did not increase phototoxicity. Penetration of dicamba (3,6-dichloro-0-anisic acid) into soybean (*Glycine max* L.) was not increased with nonionic surfactants; penetration did increase with anionic wetting agents plus alkyd stickers and cationic surfactants (Peterson et al. 1985).

Whitehouse et al. (1982) and de Ruiter et al. (1988) demonstrated that some spray formulations and surfactants disrupt the epicuticular wax layer, and both suggested that penetration is a function of both the pesticide compound, formulation components, and plant species. Penetration of NAA [2-(1-naphthyl)acetic acid] into enzymatically isolated cuticles of mature tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum Mill. cv. Sprinter) fruit showed that below the critical micelle concentration (CMC), surfactants had little effect on sorption (Shafer and Bukovac 1988). Above the CMC, however, sorption decreased with an increase of surfactant concentration. The chemical composition of formulations and plant epicuticular waxes is critical to the diffusion of xenobiotic substances from pesticide deposits.

Few investigators have attempted to characterize properties of the spray solution that are important in spray retention and foliar penetration. Bovey et al. (1987) related absolute surface tension, density, and viscosity to spray retention, and hence the ultimate quantity of herbicide that penetrates target foliage. Eberlein and Behrens (1984) suggest that propanil [N-(3,4-dichlorophenyl)propionamide] selectivity for green foxtail [Setaria viridis (L.) Beauv.] in wheat (Triticum aestivum L. "Era") was due to spray retention. In an analysis of efficacy of bentazon [3-isopropyl-1H-2,1,3-benzothiadiazin-4(3H)-one-2,2-dioxide] in control of Chenopodium album L., Taylor et al. (1981) showed that the contact angle of the spray mix was important. Whitehouse et al. (1982) suggests that the amount of spreading of the deposit is important in the foliar absorption of pesticides. Zabkiewicz et al. (1988) compared the contact angles, deposit spreading, and drying times of organosilicone and organic surfactants on leaves of bean, eucalyptus (Eucalyptus botryoides), and mandarin orange (Citrus nobilis var. Ushin, Silverhill strain) plants. Surfactants showed a wide range of interaction with leaf surfaces, spreading more on bean than either eucalyptus or mandarin leaves. Drying times were faster on surfaces where the deposits spread more, and uptake appeared to be less with faster drying. These results contrast with the results of Bentson (1989), where droplet spreading of an aqueous commercial spray formulation of triclopyr and foliar penetration was greater on leaves of giant chinkapin than on those of Pacific madrone. These studies demonstrate the complexity of interactions between droplet spreading and drying and the actual quantity of a substance that penetrates into foliage.

The above studies indicate the importance of using the same chemical forms and spray formulations in studies of foliar penetration as are used in operational applications. This is essential if models of chemical dissipation developed from such studies are to be relevant to field situations. There are also interactions between environmental conditions and the formulation that affect foliar penetration of pesticides.

3. Experimental Environment. The effect of temperature, humidity, photosynthetically active radiation, simulated rainfall, and plant moisture stress on foliar penetration have also been investigated. Gerber et al. (1983) observed that most of the literature focuses on the effect of a single factor and therefore is difficult to use in interpretation of pesticide behavior in the field.

Temperature is pivotal in the physical chemistry of foliar penetration, because of its influence on the chemical potential of a xenobiotic substance, but it has received little attention (Table 1). Most investigators have disregarded temperature or have used only a single temperature regime for absorption experiments in greenhouses and growth chambers.

Gillespie and Miller (1983) found foliar penetration by disclofop (2-[4-(2,4dichlorophenoxy)phenoxy]propanoic acid) into sunflower (Helianthus annus L.) was greater at 30°C than at 10°C. Kells et al. (1984) applied fluazifop-butyl ((±)butyl 2-[4-[(5-(trifluoromethyl)-2-pyridinyl)oxy]phenoxy]propanoate) to quackgrass [Agropyron repens (L.) Beauv.] and soybean, and then placed the plants in growth chambers at either 20° or 30°C. After 144 h, penetration was 45.3 and 71.4% at 20° and 30°C, respectively. McCall (1988) used three temperature levels (13°, 20°, and 30°C) to model the volatilization, penetration, translocation, and metabolism of haloxyfop (2-[4-[(3-chloro-5-(trifluoromethyl)-2pyridinyl)oxy]phenoxy]propanoic acid) ethoxyethyl and methyl esters on yellow foxtail [Setaria glauca (L.) Beauv.]; penetration by haloxyfop increased with increasing temperature. Glyphosate [N-(phosphonomethyl)glycine] penetration into hemp dogbane (Apocynum cannabinum L.) was found to double when temperature was raised from 25° to 30°C, but this did not occur with 2,4-D (Schultz and Burnside 1980). Amine salts of picloram (4-amino-3,5,6-trichloropicolinic acid) and 2,4-D were applied to field-grown quaking aspen (Populus tremuloides Michx.) and balsam poplar (Populus balsamifera L.), which were then placed in chambers at either 10°, 25.5°, or 40.5°C. With this technique, Sharma and Vanden Born (1970) found that penetration increased with increasing temperature. Bentson (1989) showed that trichlopyr penetration into giant chinkapin increased with higher temperatures (10°, 25°, and 40°C); however, penetration into Pacific madrone increased only between 10° and 25°C and not between 25° and 40°C.

In most instances, higher temperatures increase foliar penetration. The possibility of decreased foliar penetration by a substance at higher temperatures could also occur. For instance, McWhorter et al. (1980) found that glyphosate penetration into soybean is higher at 24°C than at 29.5° and 35°C. They also found that penetration of glyphosate into Johnsongrass [Sorghum halepense (L.) Pers.] increases with higher temperatures under the same experimental conditions. This suggests that with certain compounds in specific formulations on certain plant species foliar penetration does not necessarily increase with increasing temperatures. Studies not using different temperatures will produce information of limited use for characterizing the field behavior and environmental fate of pesticides in foliar deposits.

Humidity also influences foliar penetration, but it has been investigated to an even lesser extent than temperature (Table 1). The foliar penetration studies that investigated humidity mostly did so with acidic, basic, or polar herbicides.

Babiker and Duncan (1975) used a low humidity level (bean plants in chamber) versus a high humidity level (bean plants in plastic bags in chamber) and found that asulam without surfactant had five to six times less penetration under low humidity than under high humidity. Addition of surfactant offset this difference only partially; asulam penetrated about three and a half to four times less at low humidity than at high humidity. Glyphosate penetration into bermudagrass at 40% relative humidity (RH) and 22 °C was less than 10% of the applied quantity; while at 100% RH and 32°C penetration was greater than 70% (Jordan 1977). Sharma and Vanden Born (1970) did not measure humidity, but in their study of penetration of picloram and 2,4-D amine salts into quaking aspen and balsam poplar, high humidity doubled the amount of both herbicides penetrating the foliage when compared with results from low-humidity treatments at the same temperature. Taylor et al. (1981) measured efficacy of bentazon in Chenopodium album L., and found that 40% RH nearly doubled efficacy when compared to plants treated under a 80% RH regime. Wills and McWhorter (1981) found that acifluorfen (5-[2-chloro-4-(trifluoromethyl)phenoxy]-2-nitrobenzoic acid) penetration into soybeans [Glycine max (L.) Merr. "Lee 68"], was four times greater at 100% RH than at 40%, regardless of temperature. Similarly, Wills (1984) found that absorption of sethoxydim (2-[1-(ethoxyimino)-butyl]-5-[2-(ethylthio)-propyl]-3-hydroxy-2-cyclohexen-1-one) by bermudagrass increased at higher RH levels. The information on humidity is limited, and it is difficult to draw substantive conclusions, although it appears that high humidity may facilitate penetration of some acidic, basic, and polar substances into foliage. Humidity in conjunction with plant moisture stress affects stomatal aperature, which is a route of foliar penetration in some instances. The thickness and composition of epicuticular wax layers depends to some degree on the average humidity during leaf development (Baker 1980). Thus the effect of humidity on the plant both physiologically and developmentally may affect foliar penetration.

Willingham and Graham (1988) investigated the effects of relative humidity, temperature, and soil moisture on the foliar penetration of acifluorfen into velvetleaf (Abutilon theophrasti). Relative humidity correlated with the greatest foliar penetration, which had been observed in the field and laboratory (Ritter and Coble 1981; Wills and McWhorter 1981). Temperature had the second largest effect on penetration. Soil moisture was observed to significantly affect foliar penetration. This study indicates that under field conditions, foliar penetration would be a complex function of all these factor's environmental levels.

Plant moisture stress has been investigated to a limited extent (Table 1). Akey and Morrison (1983), investigating diclofop penetration into wild oats using two different soil moisture contents (10 and 20% w/w), showed that penetration was initially slower at the lower soil moisture content, but that 48 h after application there was no difference in the quantity that had penetrated into foliage. Penetration of fluazifop-butyl into quackgrass and soybean showed no difference in penetration when plants were stressed at 6–10% (w/w) soil moisture content or at field capacity (21%); however, quackgrass showed greater mortality with herbicide treatment when moisture stressed (Kells et al. 1984). Glyphosate treatment of common milkweed (Asclepias syriaca L.) had 44% versus 29% of the applied quantity absorbed by plants at 25% and 13% (w/w) soil moisture content, respectively (Waldecker and Wyse 1985). The total time between application and recovery was not given for this study, however. McWhorter et al. (1980) showed that glyphosate penetration into Johnsongrass was greater at 20% soil moisture (w/w) than at 12%.

Plant moisture stress, and soil moisture content, seem to have some effect on the rate of penetration but may not be important in determining the ultimate amount of a pesticide that penetrates foliage. Davies et al. (1983) has suggested that soil moisture effects on stomata could be used to increase the efficacy of some herbicide treatments by increasing the stomatal pathway of foliar penetration through maintenance of high soil moisture content to ensure the stomata are open.

Bovey et al. (1983) applied triclopyr to honey mesquite [Prosopis juliflora var. glandulosa (Torr.) Cockerell] in both the laboratory and the field. They noted that the amount of triclopyr acid in tissues increases with time from ester degradation and that 24 h after a field spray application, no triclopyr remains in foliar surface deposits. Simulated rainfall was used to determine if rain soon after application would decrease the absorption of triclopyr. They found that triclopyr penetration into foliage was unaffected by rain. Caseley and Coupland (1980) also used simulated rain to determine the effect on absorption of difenzoquat (1,2-dimethyl-3,5-diphenyl-1H-pyrazolium methyl sulfate) in wild oat and found that absorption was reduced by rainfall that occurred within a hour of application; this reduction was not as evident if rain occurred 4 h after application. There is little other information in the literature on the effect of rainfall on foliar

penetration, although rainfall does have the potential for decreasing the level of a material that enters foliar tissues.

4. Time Course. Most investigators of the absorption of pesticides by foliage look at the change in quantity of a substance in leaf tissues at several different times afater application (Table 1). Many of the studies do not track foliar penetration until it approaches a steady state quantity in the tissues. The steady state concentration is actually a more important value in determining the quantity of pesticide that is absorbed than the rate a pesticide penetrates foliage, because it defines the maximum attainable quantity of a pesticide in tissues from a deposit under specified environmental conditions.

In general, most sampling times are chosen as a series, in a pattern like 2, 4, 8, 16, and 32 h, chosen on the rationale that they will better characterize the exponential nature of foliar absorption (Akey and Morrison 1983; Babiker and Duncan 1975; Bloomberg and Wax 1978; Bovey et al. 1983; Devine and Vanden Born 1985; Eberlein and Behrens 1984; Gillespie and Miller 1983; Haderlie 1980; Hamburg and McCall 1988; Hashimoto et al. 1979; Hook and Glenn 1984; Kells et al. 1984; Kitchen et al. 1980; McCall 1988; McCall et al. 1986a; Muller et al. 1984; Nomura and Hilton 1982; O'Sullivan and Kossatz 1984; Petersen and Swisher 1985; Richard and Slife 1979; Richardson 1975; Richardson 1979; Richardson 1980; Ritter and Coble 1981; Schultz and Burnside 1980; Sharma and Vanden Born 1970; Todd and Stobbe 1977). To avoid the assumption that the rate of foliar penetration is exponential, evenly spaced time intervals have been used (Bentson 1989). Others have looked at one or two different times, with no reference as to whether they reached the time of steady state maximum absorption (Baur et al. 1971; Casely and Coupland 1980; Hogue 1978; King and Radosevich 1979; Norris and Freed 1966; Peterson et al. 1985; Richardson and Grant 1977; Shaner and Robson 1985; Veerabhadraiah et al. 1980; Waldecker and Wyse 1985). The distribution over time of a pesticide into tissues is critical for the evaluation of environmental fate. In the field, other dissipative and degradative processes will be occurring simultaneously with foliar penetration and will thus alter the rate and quantity of a material entering tissues.

5. Environmental Fate. Few investigators have considered if other dissipative or degradative processes are occurring during the foliar absorption experiments (Table 1). Dissipative and degradative processes can alter the rate and final quantity of a pesticide entering leaf tissues by changing the concentration gradient between the deposit and tissues (Nobel 1983).

McCall et al. (1986a) and McCall (1988) used a microagroecosystem to explore foliar penetration and metabolism of tridiphane [2-(2,2,2-trichloro-ethyl)-2-(3,5-dichlorophenyl)oxirane) and haloxyfop, respectively, on foxtail species (*Setaria* spp.). The approach was to simultaneously measure the rates of volatilization, foliar penetration, metabolism, and translocation of the herb-

icides. Bentson (1989) observed the effect of ultraviolet light and darkness on the foliar penetration and loss of triclopyr in deposits on Pacific madrone and giant chinkapin leaves at 10°, 25°, and 40°C. Although light significantly increased losses of triclopyr from surface deposits versus losses in the dark, foliar penetration was not significantly different, except at 25°C with giant chinkapin leaves. These approaches monitor the effects of simultaneous dissipative and degradative phenomena to develop models for predicting field behavior of the herbicides.

6. Chemical Analysis. Most studies that have investigated foliar absorption of pesticides detect only radioactivity (Table 1). The fate of the actual parent compound in the tissues is unknown. The physical chemistry of chemical penetration into foliar tissues is highly dependent, however, on the concentration of the parent pesticide, in both deposits and tissues. The actual concentration of the parent compound in tissues is usually unknown when radiotracers are used. Results are reported as the percentage of applied radioactivity, and radioactive metabolites may be confused with the original substance. This lack of definitive information is a weakness that makes most of the data generated from foliar penetration studies using radiolabeled chemicals poor for environmental fate interpretation and modeling.

McCall et al. (1986a), McCall et al. (1986b), McCall (1988) and Hamburg and McCall (1988) have used radiolabeled materials and high-pressure liquid chromatography with radiometric detection to isolate active ingredients from metabolites. This approach removes the uncertainty of whether the radiation detected is the active ingredient or metabolites. Another approach is to use classical residue analyses to determine the quantity of active ingredient in different compartments.

B. Mechanistic Foliar Penetration Studies

A few studies have investigated the diffusion of herbicides across isolated cuticles, or for effects of cuticular structure and composition, and surface morphological characteristics of leaves on foliar penetration (King and Radosevich 1979; Norris 1974; Riederer and Schonherr 1985; Shafer and Bukovac 1988; Taylor et al. 1981; Whitehouse et al. 1982).

Chamel (1986) provides a review and other references in this area. Studies using isolated cuticles generally are attempting to define the Fick's first law diffusion coefficient by various properties of the cuticle. The studies often separate the effects on diffusion of epicuticular wax composition versus the thickness of the cuticular layer under the epicuticular waxes (Riederer and Schonherr 1985; Taylor et al. 1981; Whitehouse et al. 1982). Baker (1980) reviewed the literature of foliar penetration by herbicides for the chemical composition of cuticles, but this approach has provided mixed results. The assumption that the cuticle compo-

sition and structure defines the quantity of pesticide entering leaf tissues is not completely correct, because the chemical potentials of a substance within the deposit, cuticle, atmosphere, and tissue compartments defines the amount of penetration that will occur. Other studies (King and Radosevich 1979) show the effect of differential absorption into morphologically distinct structures in cuticles such as stellate trichomes, adaxial versus abaxial leaf surfaces, and stomata. Davies et al. (1983) reviewed the literature for the manipulation of stomatal behavior to improve herbicide foliar penetration.

Mechanistic foliar penetration studies uniformly ignore the influence of environment and are subject to many of the same limitations as empirical foliar penetration studies for the determination of environmental fate.

III. Volatilization

Compared to foliar penetration of pesticides, far less research has focused on the volatilization of pesticides from deposits on foliage. Baskin and Walker (1953) were the first to unequivocally demonstrate that vapors of 2,4-D and 2,4,5-T formulations are toxic to plants (tomatoes). Most of the literature is on volatilization of materials from water or soil, environmental compartments that are dissimilar to foliar surfaces. Spencer et al. (1973), in a review of volatilization, noted that there is virtually no information on volatilization from foliar surfaces; this is still true. Jury et al. (1987), for example, in a review of the fate of organic chemicals in the soil-air-water ecosystem, ignore the issue of residues on foliage, although plants are a key component of ecosystems and commonly have pesticides applied to them.

A. Physical Chemistry

Several excellent treatments of the physical chemistry of volatilization are available (Hartley and Graham-Bryce 1980; Mackay 1985; Plimmer 1976; Spencer et al. 1973; Taylor and Glotfelty 1988; Thibodeaux and Scott 1985), and the reader is referred to these for detailed descriptions. One limitation in most of these treatments is that they ignore volatilization from formulations and from deposits on foliage.

Volatilization is, in the strict sense, the escape of vapor of a pure compound into the gas phase from a liquid or solid condense. The sense of the pure substance. Thus vapor pressure is a key descriptor in quantifying solatilization. This differs markedly from situations in the field where a pesticide is not in its pure condensed phase, but is dispersed over a large area and associates with a variety of materials (e.g., water, soil constituents, epicuticular waxes of foliage, and formulation components). As Hartley (1983) indicates, bioassay measurements of "volatilization" are a misnomer, because there is also the component of uptake of vapor by indicator species.

The vapor pressure of a substance is a function of temperature. Under field situations, temperature is important in the volatilization of a pesticide, but wind, Raoult's and Henry's laws, diffusion in air, and humidity are also key determinants, which to a greater or lesser extent also depend on temperature. Wind controls the thickness of stagnant air boundary layers over surfaces a substance must diffuse through and is important in the advection of substances away from a site.

There are practical limitations in using the physical chemical properties of a substance to describe volatilization from a foliar deposit. Use of the Henry's law constant is well developed for volatilization of materials from water (Suntio et al. 1988), but the Henry's law constants for pesticides in formulations are unknown because (1) the solubility of a pesticide in a formulation is unknown, (2) the vapor pressure for the form (e.g., amine salt, ester) of a pesticide is also seldom known, although it can be approximated (Lyman 1985), (3) the effect on the Raoult's or Henry's laws constants of partial mixing of epicuticular waxes with the formulation in a deposit has not been assessed, and (4) the effect of dissipation of other formulation components has not been measured.

The complexity of leaf shapes and orientation make estimating the boundary layer thickness directly over a deposit difficult (Hartley and Graham-Bryce 1980). The boundary layer partially controls the diffusion of a substance from a deposit into the air, and diffusion coefficients for the forms of a pesticide in air are rarely known. The effect of humidity on the composition of deposits is also unknown. Some deposits are hygroscopic, but some deposit constituents are hydrophobic. Dew on surfaces with pesticide deposits increases loss of some pesticides from surface deposits (Willis et al. 1980). Modification of volatilization of pesticides by competing processes such as foliar absorption and photodegradation, has rarely been evaluated.

Some studies have determined the volatilization of pesticides from formulations. Holoman and Seymour (1983) used glass surfaces as substrates to measure volatile losses of pesticides from formulations. With this technique, they evaluated volatilization loss of chlorpyrifos [O,O-diethyl-O-(3,5,6-trichloro-2-pyridyl)phosphoro-thioate] from Lorsban 4E emulsion sprays applied to petri dishes and compared the effects of hollow-cone versus flat-fan spray nozzles, different added adjuvants to the emulsion, and the differences between different lots of the formulation. Deposits from flat-fan nozzles had less volatilization, as did deposits with adjuvants versus the commercial formulation alone. Interestingly, slight differences in volatility of chlorpyrifos from different pesticide lots were also shown.

Sundaram (1985) used a gravimetric technique to show that different formulations and additives have different rates of volatilization. The relation between formulation composition, component volatility, and environmental conditions needs further investigation to improve spray deposition and efficacy and to minimize environmental contamination (Hartley 1983). The effects that foliage contributes to these phenomena have not been explored.

B. Field Studies

Seiber and Woodrow (1983) provide an overview and further references on sampling techniques for volatilized residues from sprayed sites. The general sampling technique is to place suitable sampling devices in a recently sprayed field, and capture residues out of a known volume of air. These measurements are sometimes made alone, or with concurrent samples of foliage and soils. Sampler intake is either at one or several heights to sample within the crop canopy and the boundary layer above the canopy.

Seiber et al. (1979) investigated toxaphene (a mixture of polychlorinated bicyclic terpenes) volatilization from treated cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.) including foliar and soil samples. Volatile toxaphene fractions (commercial formulations contain up to 177 different compounds that are the active ingredients) were lost more rapidly than less volatile fractions, showing a rapid increase in air samplers after application and a rapid decrease in foliar quantities. Seiber et al. (1979) noted that differences in dissipation rates between their study and others were probably due to formulation, application rate, foliage texture, and meteorological conditions. Harper et al. (1983) investigated toxaphene and DDT ([1,1,1trichloro-2,2-bis(p-chlorophenyl)ethanel) volatilization from cotton, and found that the foliar canopy was the major source of volatilized residues and the observed flux of materials was directly related to the quantity of pesticides on foliage. Volatilization was also correlated with air temperature and net radiation (insolative heat load). A comparison of microencapsulated and emulsifiable concentrate formulations of methyl parathion (O,O-diethyl-O-p-nitrophenyl phosphorothioate) showed that its volatilization was greater from emulsifiable concentrate formulations (Jackson and Lewis 1979). This evidence suggests that the volatilization of pesticides is closely related to the amounts of pesticides on foliage, meteorological conditions, and formulation.

Grover et al. (1972) investigated vapor drift of the butyl ester and dimethylamine formulations of 2,4-D and 2,4,5-T for a half-hour post-application. About 25-30% of the butyl ester formulations volatilized, but only 3-4% of the dimethylamine formulations did so. This study shows a weakness common in volatilization studies, in that the vegetation (composition, leaf area index, and stature), and proportion of exposed soil were not reported, thereby making the deposit site contributing the volatilized residues difficult to determine.

Taylor et al. (1977) and Taylor (1978) discuss the volatilization of two insecticides, dieldrin (1,2,3,4,10,10-hexachloro-6,7-epoxy-1,4,4a,5,6,7,8,8a-octahydro-endo-exo-1,4:5,8-dimethanonaphthalene) and heptachlor (1,4,5,6,7,8,8-heptachloro-3a,4,7,7a-tetrahydro-4,7-methanoindene), from vegetation. They report that in 30 d about 90% of dieldrin residues had volatilized, based on multipoint air sampling. They concluded that volatilization was the major dissipative process causing the observed losses of the residues from leaf surfaces; however, other studies have shown photodegradation of dieldrin to be significant (Robinson et al. 1966; Zabik et al. 1976). Measurements by Taylor et al. (1977) and Tay-

lor (1978) of volatilized residues were done only for the first 14 h after application. Based on these results, volatilization is the primary loss process in the initial half-day after application.

Field studies not observing levels of residues in other compartments besides the atmosphere are not useful for modeling the environmental fate of pesticides. The source concentration and chemical environment of a residue in or on compartments has a strong influence on residue volatilization. Most field studies do not gather detailed meteorological information, which limits the usefulness of the data for exposure assessments and environmental fate modeling. A weakness of field studies is that the proportion of the actual flux sampled is not known. Thus, there is great uncertainty as to the representativeness of point sample measurements.

C. Microcosm and Greenhouse Studies

Microcosm and greenhouse studies can overcome many of the problems with limited data that are present in field studies, because all the volatilized residues can be captured, and meteorological conditions and application parameters can be closely controlled. Microcosm (or microagroecosystem) studies in particular can control and monitor parameters (Nash 1983), thus providing data useful for environmental fate modeling.

Boldt and Putnam (1980) in a study of selectivity mechanisms of diclofop methyl including foliar penetration and volatilization in the greenhouse with uncontrolled temperatures, found that losses from foliar surfaces and glass cover slips were about equal (by mass balance).

Microcosm studies have been more precise. Nash et al. (1977) used a microagroecosystem to study volatile losses of toxaphene and DDT from leaf surfaces and glass slides. Temperatures in these experiments were uncontrolled, but quantities of the residues in foliage, soil, and on glass slides were determined. Differences in quantities volatilized from soil versus foliage could not be determined, because the site of spray deposition was uncontrolled. Separation of volatilization from soils and foliage would improve understanding of the source of volatilized residues.

McCall et al. (1986a) used radiolabelled tridiphane, controlled temperatures, and foliar applications (none to soil) in a microcosm. Glass slides were used to establish the volatilization rate from the formulation without the influence of foliage. Using this technique, they were able to show the influence of parameters such as drop size, the addition of atrazine [2-chloro-4-(ethylamino)-6-(isopropylamino)-s-triazine], and temperature on the subsequent environmental fate of tridiphane. Higher temperatures caused an increase in the rate of volatilization. An outdoor application was used to provide field data to test the models. McCall (1988) used a similar approach to evaluate the short-term environmental fate of haloxyfop.

Microcosm studies are valuable tools for developing models of the fate of pesticides in foliar deposits, as shown by McCall et al. (1986b) and McCall (1988). The correct selection of parameters is necessary to fully evaluate the fate. For instance, no microcosm study has evaluated the effect of humidity or sunlight (particularly UV radiation) on the subsequent fate of pesticides in foliar deposits, although these are common conditions in the field.

IV. Photodegradation

Several pesticide photodegradation investigations and extensive reviews (Choudry and Webster 1985; Crosby 1976; Marcheterre et al. 1988; Zabik and Leavitt 1976). This review cannot discuss specific reaction mechanisms, but will discuss the research approaches used to investigate pesticide photodegradation and the limited literature that exists on the photodegradation of xenobiotic substances in foliar pesticide deposits.

A. Laboratory Investigations of Photodegradation

Most mechanistic studies of pesticide photochemistry have been either in organic solvent or aqueous systems (Marcheterre et al. 1988). Concentrations of pesticides are often greater than would occur in water under field situations. The radiation used for the investigations is not very similar to sunlight, because it is a narrow band centered either around 308 nm, produced by low-pressure mercury vapor lamps, which is in the solar spectrum reaching the Earth's surface, or 254 nm, generated by high-pressure mercury lamps, which is not present in insolation at the Earth's surface (Crosby 1976). Photochemical reactions are usually observed under artificial conditions with controlled temperature and solution composition. These conditions are consistent with study goals, which generally are to understand the different photoproducts and degradation pathways.

As has been mentioned previously, surfactants are important components in foliar pesticide deposits. Tanaka et al. (1979) studied the effects of surfactants on the degradation of several herbicides. They believed that monuron [3-(p-chlorophenyl)-1,1-dimethylurea] photodegradation was occurring in the organic phase of surfactant micelles, based on the lack of products that showed oxygen involvement. It was concluded in another paper (Tanaka et al. 1981) that surfactants increase the photodegradation rates of herbicides having (1) low water solubilities, (2) chloro substitutents on aromatic rings, or (3) triplet energies below those of the surfactant. Surfactants in foliar pesticide deposits may play a role in the photodegradation of xenobiotic substances, either as sensitizers or as proton donors.

There are several limitations to much of the photodegradation research on pesticide environmental fate. It is questionable whether photodegradative pathways and rates observed in solvents, such as methanol, acetonitrile, or acetone,

are the actual pathways and rates that would occur under field conditions in water or foliar pesticide deposits. Photochemical mechanisms are known to vary with changes in the concentration of a substance in solution (Crosby 1976), which means that studies not observing photodegradation in solutions with concentrations similar to those in the field may be misleading. The effect of temperature is frequently ignored, although some actinometer systems are temperature sensitive (Crosby 1976). Therefore temperature should be considered in photodegradation studies to represent the situation in the field. The radiation used for photolysis is either in a band not present in sunlight or is a narrow portion of the solar spectrum at the Earth's surface. Photolysis mechanisms and rates therefore are not representative of those occurring under field conditions. These factors make extrapolation of laboratory photolysis data to field situations difficult and prone to error (Miller and Zepp 1983).

The quantitative and theoretical aspects of photodegradation in aqueous systems is very well developed (Choudry and Webster 1985; Mill and Mabey 1985; Miller and Zepp 1983). The photochemistry of xenobiotic substances in foliar deposits, where there are high concentrations of several substances potentially involved in photolysis, is relatively undeveloped. There is increasing interest in vapor phase photolysis (Woodrow et al. 1983). Pesticide vapor is produced under controlled laboratory conditions and illuminated with ultraviolet radiation for a specific time; the photoproducts are subsequently assayed.

B. Photodegradation on Foliage in Field and Microcosm Studies

Most studies of photodegradation on foliage have been performed in outdoor studies. Microcosm studies generally have not considered photodegradation in experimental protocols (McCall 1988; McCall et al. 1986a; McCall et al. 1986b; Nash 1983). Photodegradation in field situations, however, could have substantial effects on the partitioning of organic substances in the environment. Many outdoor studies of photodegradation have not considered the effect of volatilization and other degradative paths on the parent compound or photodegradation products.

Makary et al. (1981), investigating the photolysis of phoxim (4-ethoxy-7-phenyl-3,5-dioxa-6-aza-4-phosphaoct-6-ene-8-nitrile 4-sulfide), used thin-layer chromatography to identify the parent compound and other degradation products. They found that the photoproducts associated with tomato leaves were present in both surface leaf rinses and tissues, and noted that a product of thermal degradation was present. This shows that foliar penetration of reaction products can occur and may need to be measured. Makary et al. (1981) did not present data on insolation, however, or the losses that may have occurred from volatilization. Matsuo and Casida (1970) investigated the photodegradation of radiolabelled dinobuton [1-methylethyl 2-(1-methylpropyl)-4,6-dinitrophenyl ester of carbonic acid] and dinoseb [2-(1-methylpropyl)-4,6-dinitrophenol] on bean leaves

in sunlight. They found that different photoproducts form rapidly with exposure to sunlight and that both the photoproducts and parent compounds are lost over time, presumably by volatilization.

Takahashi et al. (1985) showed that, unlike in water, sunlight photodegradation of the pyrethroid insecticide fenpropathrin [2,2,3,3-tetramethylcyclopropane-carboxylic acid cyano(3-phenoxyphenyl)methyl ester] on mandarin orange leaves in a noncommercial formulation does not occur. They concluded that fenpropathrin is lost primarily via volatilization or metabolism in the plant tissues, because few of the photodegradation products could be recovered in either surface washes or tissue extracts. Neither volatilization of photoproducts, a potential path of loss, nor insolation were measured.

Joiner and Baetcke (1973) found parathion photodegradation products in cotton foliage exposed to light in growth chamber, open field, and greenhouse environments. They concluded from mass balance calculations that photodegradation is the sole process in the disappearance of parathion. The analytical procedure, however, did not discern between residues in versus on foliage. El-Sebae et al. (1982) determined that thanite (isobornyl thiocyanoacetate, technical) on cotton plants is degraded primarily by ultraviolet light (60% in 14 h) and found a similar loss in sunlight. Degradation products were not identified, and surface deposits were not separated from leaf tissues. Glass petri dishes were used to evaluate photodegradation in the absence of metabolism. No attempt was made to determine if the observed losses were the result of some other dissipative or degradative process.

The above two studies measure loss of a pesticide in sunlight, but they do not separate residues in tissues from those remaining in deposits. This is a weakness, in that residues in tissues are not likely to photodegrade if ultraviolet radiation is required, because the epicuticular waxes and intervening tissues form a radiation barrier. Another consideration is that losses of these materials could also be from either degradation within plant tissues or volatilization. The above studies did not determine whether the observed phenomena occurred in the absence of radiation.

Slade (1966) applied droplets of a noncommercial formulation of paraquat (1,1'-dimethyl-4,4'-bipyridinium ion) to tomato and bean plants, and tracked the change in residue quantity over time. Quantities in tissues and deposits were not separated. When plants were kept in the dark for 24 h after paraquat application, to allow penetration before exposure to sunlight, and then placed in sunlight, 84% of the applied paraquat was recovered, versus a 58% recovery when the plants were immediately exposed to sunlight after application. Crosby and Wong (1977) applied TCDD (2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin) in a 2,4,5-T herbicide formulation to rubber plant (*Ficus elastica*) leaves and subsequently exposed some leaves to a day of sunlight while another set was maintained in the dark. They showed that TCDD rapidly degraded in sunlight but not in the dark. They concluded that loss of the residue is the result of exposure to sunlight and, presumably, photodegradation.

A factorial study of triclopyr foliar penetration and dissipation from deposits on giant chinkapin and Pacific madrone foliage used dark and light (UV spectra similar to the sun's) treatments to assay the effect of photodegradation (Bentson 1989). Loss of triclopyr in the light depended on the rate of foliar penetration. For instance, loss of triclopyr in the light at 10°C, at which penetration was negligible, from giant chinkapin leaves was nearly 10 times greater than losses in the dark. At 40°C, however, where triclopyr penetration into chinkapin foliage was large, there was no significant difference in triclopyr loss. Foliar penetration of triclopyr into chinkapin leaves at 25°C was significantly reduced in the light versus the dark treatments. This study demonstrates the interaction among foliar penetration, loss of a substance in light, and environmental conditions on the fate of a substance. Fate studies of photolabile chemicals in pesticide deposits on foliage should assay volatilization, photodegradation products, and foliar penetration to accurately depict the interaction of these processes in the field.

The amount of ultraviolet insolation is important in modeling the fate of xenobiotic substances in the environment. It is frequently measured in outdoor studies of the photolysis of substances in water, but rarely in photolysis studies using foliage. Some studies have measured photolysis in the absence of formulation components, which Tanaka et al. (1979, 1981) showed to be important in some instances. Frequently, dark controls are not maintained at the same temperatures as the outdoor exposed materials, which means that although photodegradation is the likely candidate for the observed photoproducts, other degradative and dissipative processes may have been the cause of the observed losses. Volatilization was suggested as an important path of loss for some residues in several of the papers, as was foliar penetration. The studies, however, provide no way to assess the relative importance of these other disappearance paths. For environmental fate models and exposure assessments, detailed information about the interactions of disappearance phenomena are required, along with monitoring of insolation and meteorological conditions.

V. Discussion and Synthesis

The major dispositional processes for most pesticides and xenobiotic substances in pesticide deposits on foliage have been discussed in the previous three sections. Although many authors studying the persistence of pesticides in or on foliage suggest that one or more of these phenomena are operating, few studies have focused on the interaction of processes or on their effect on the quantities of residues in different compartments. In this section, a conceptual model based on chemical potential is developed to provide insights on some phenomena and the interactions between processes. Although chemical potential is for solution phase systems, it provides a conceptual framework for illustrating the importance of considering different temperatures, humidities, plant species, and deposit and leaf surface compositions in studies of the fate of substances in pesticide deposits

on foliage. The collection of suitable data for modeling the fate of substances initially in pesticide deposits is discussed.

This section will address the following questions.

- 1. What are important physical characteristics of the leaf-deposit-air system?
- 2. What are the effects of various environmental conditions on dispositional processes?
- 3. How do processes interact to cause the observed environmental disposition of a substance?
- 4. What is an efficient study design for evaluating the effects and interactions of environmental conditions on the disposition of substances in pesticide deposits on foliage?

A. Compartments of Leaf-Deposit-Air System

There are three distinct components to the system, each having unique physical and chemical characteristics. The system is divided by two interfaces: one between the leaf tissue and deposit compartments, and other between the deposit and atmosphere.

The leaf tissue compartment is a complex chemical system with hydrophilic and hydrophobic regions, that can also be thought of as barriers to the free diffusion of hydrophobic or hydrophilic substances. Some portions of the tissue are solids, while other parts are primarily liquid.

To simplify the system for this discussion, the discussion will take a macroscopic view and assume that (1) leaf tissues are gelatinous, (2) surfaces are homogeneous on the scale of the deposit areas (ignoring microscopic irregularities), (3) physiological processes are relatively stable in the short term, (4) the tissues are compartmented with limited diffusion between compartments in the short term, and (5) metabolism is minimal in the short term. The epicuticular waxes are the physical interface between the tissues and the deposit, and the assumption is made that the epicuticular wax layer volume is insignificant to the volumes of the deposit and the leaf tissue.

The leaf tissue volume that an herbicide may eventually enter is unknown and difficult to measure. This volume is probably finite, but the fraction of foliar tissue that a substance may penetrate into within this volume is usually unknown. For instance, lipophilic substances would tend to concentrate in tissue locations that had little water and were nonionic, such as membranes.

The deposit is initially a liquid that turns into a semisolid liquid (sometimes with crystallization of components) as the carrier evaporates (Hartley and Graham-Bryce 1980). The deposit is a complex mixture of surfactants, solvents, adjuvants, and clays (sometimes) and usually contains a high concentration of a pesticidal substance. The deposit is bound on one side by the leaf tissues and on the other side by the atmosphere. Diffusion can be in both directions from the deposit.

The atmosphere has an infinite volume. The atmosphere beyond the umixed layer above the deposit is always infinitely dilute in the concentration of a substance.

1. Interfaces. The leaf surface, deposit, and atmosphere interact through their surface tensions to determine the contact angle and degree of spreading of a deposit droplet (Hartley and Graham-Bryce 1980). The mathematical relationship that expresses this is $\cos\theta = (\gamma_{LA} - \gamma_{LD})/\gamma_{DA}$, where θ is the contact angle between the plane of the leaf surface and the upper surface of the deposit droplet, γ_{LA} is the surface tension between the leaf and the atmosphere, γ_{LD} is the surface tension between the leaf surface and the liquid deposit, and γ_{DA} is the surface tension between the deposit and the atmosphere. A contact angle of less than 90° indicates that a droplet wets the surface. The leaf surface area that a droplet contacts increases with a decrease in the contact angle.

A low contact angle means the surface tension between the deposit and surface is low. A low surface tension is the result of the affinity of the deposit solution to the surface coating. This affinity and wetting propensity also means that the surface coating may be miscible in the deposit constituents and vice versa. Whitehouse et al. (1985) showed this in their study, where epicuticular waxes were disrupted more by a formulation with a lower contact angle than with a greater contact angle.

The epicuticular wax layer could be considered a separate compartment with its own volume. It should be remembered in the development of recovery procedures for residues in surface deposits on foliage that epicuticular waxes represent a morphologically distinct layer. Solvents will remove this layer to a variable extent. This can make a large difference in measurements of the quantity of a substance that remains on leaf surfaces if the amount of the substance in the wax layer is large relative to that actually in subcuticular tissues, and various solvents remove different amounts of the wax layer.

Diffusion across the leaf-deposit interface will follow Fick's first law of diffusion on a macroscopic scale. Microscopic features may be involved in differences observed among species or within a species' foliage. The apparent diffusion will occur as if the barrier is uniform and the diffusion rate is equal to the diffusion across the least permeable layer.

Loss of material from a deposit by volatilization involves the leaf-atmosphere interface. This follows Fick's first law of diffusion because of the unmixed boundary layer of air near the leaf surface. The thickness of this boundary layer depends on the air speed above the deposit, which in turn determines the concentration gradient (Hartley and Graham-Bryce 1980; Nobel 1983). A material leaves the deposit, however, also according to either Henry's or Raoult's laws. Actual diffusion may appear to be intermediate between Henry's and Raoult's laws, depending on the properties of the solute and solvent. Both laws are special cases of chemical potential.

B. A Conceptual View of Substance Dynamics in Foliar Deposits

The concept of chemical potential was developed for solutions. Pesticide deposits are either very viscous or solid solutions. Chemical potential, although not directly applicable to the situation of pesticide deposits on foliage, does provide a useful conceptual framework. The following simple discussion is provided for readers who may not be familiar with certain aspects of chemical potential. Those familiar with chemical potential may wish to proceed to following sections.

The chemical potential for a substance j in solution is defined by $\mu_j = \mu_j^* + RT \ln a_j + z_j FE$. The terms are μ_j is the chemical potential of substance j, μ_j^* is the standard-state chemical potential for substance j in the solution, R is the molar gas constant, T is the temperature (° Kelvin), a_j is the activity of the substance j in the solution and it is equal to $\gamma_j X_j$ (X represents the mole fraction, γ is the activity coefficient), z_j is the charge number, F is a Faraday, and E is the electrical potential in volts. The above equation is for ionic substances; the equation for nonionic substances is the same but without the $z_j FE$ term. We have not included gravitational and hydrostatic pressure terms because they are insignificant contributors to the chemical potential in the situation we are discussing. The activity coefficient indicates the deviation of the system from ideality, and can be either positive or negative. Freed and Witt (1969) indicate that chemical potential is a useful concept for the development of herbicide formulations to enhance foliar penetration.

A substance moves from an area of higher chemical potential to an area of lower chemical potential and continues to do so until the chemical potential is equal in each compartment. Fick's first law of diffusion is a special case of the chemical potential of a substance, since for a nonionic substance the flux J_j across some distance x is expressed by the equation, $J_j = -\mathbf{u}_j RT \, \partial \gamma_j c_j / (\gamma_j \, \partial x) = -\mathbf{u}_j RT \, (\partial c_j) / (\partial x)$ where \mathbf{u}_j and c_j are the mobility and concentration of species j, respectively. Fick's first law is expressed by the equation, $J_j = -D_j \, (\partial c_j / \partial x)$, the Fick's first law diffusion coefficient (D_j) is therefore equal to the term $\mathbf{u}_j RT$, and is dependent on temperature (Nobel 1983).

Henry's law is also a special case of the chemical potential. Because the Henry's law constant is a proportionality between a substances partial pressure to its solubility, then this is an expression that its chemical potential as a gas is equal to its chemical potential as a solute at equilibrium. Raoult's law can similarly be derived. The above two analyses of Fick's first law of diffusion and the Henry's law show the heuristic power of the concept of chemical potential. The following sections will explore a number of environmental conditions and deposit characteristics in terms of their expected effect on a substance's chemical potential.

1. Deposit Spreading. As described above, deposit spreading is a function of surface tension. A greater tissue volume underlies a given volume droplet that

covers a larger area than a smaller area. The mole fraction of a substance in tissues after a given quantity of the chemical has diffused from the deposit will be lower under a large deposit area than under a small deposit area. A large deposit area should then result in greater foliar penetration by a pesticide, since the difference in chemical potential (strictly in terms of mole fraction) between the deposit and foliar tissues is greater. This relationship was found to hold by Taylor et al. (1981) and Bentson (1989), but not by Whitehouse et al. (1982) or Zabkiewicz et al. (1988). Clearly, other factors must play a role in movement of substances from deposits into foliar tissues.

A larger deposit area might be expected to result in greater volatility, depending on the chemical potential of a substance in the atmosphere versus in the deposit. No research on the relation between deposit spreading and volatility appears in the literature.

2. Concentration. Higher concentrations of a substance in deposits results in large amounts of an herbicide penetrating into tissue (Richardson and Grant 1977; Wills 1984). This is the direct result of the chemical potential being higher at greater solute concentrations in the deposit. The chemical potential of a substance in leaf tissues may rise more rapidly with a given flux of a substance into tissues, than the decline in the chemical potential in the deposit from the loss of the material, because the activities of the substance will be different in each compartment. This would explain an increase in penetration not being proportional to increases in initial concentration of substances in deposits. Some substances may have negative activity coefficients in certain solutions, which could cause less penetration of a substance into foliage at higher concentrations than at lower concentrations.

There is little information to support conjectures about the effect an increase in concentration of substances in foliar deposits would have on their volatility. From the notion of chemical potential, however, we can speculate that volatilization of a substance should increase with an increased concentration in the deposit, with the same rationale as used for penetration.

3. Formulation. The pesticide formulation will have a profound effect on a substance's penetration into foliage and volatilization. The formulation and epicuticular waxes on leaf surfaces determine the chemical potential of a substance in deposits and thus its rate of diffusion into the foliar and atmospheric compartments (Freed and Witt 1969).

McCall et al. (1986b) show that movement of atrazine depends on the phase that atrazine is in. Atrazine on leaf surfaces is in a solid phase and must change phase to penetrate into foliage. This change of phase is a discrete rate component in the models that they devised. This shows the importance in developing protocols and models of environmental fate of taking into consideration the physical properties of a substance while it is in the deposit.

Formulation components, in addition to the pesticide or substance of interest, are also penetrating into foliage and volatilizing. Formulation constituents may be involved in photolysis and other degradative pathways. The effect of dissipation of formulation components would be to change the mole fraction and activity of any other substance in the deposit and, thus, their chemical potentials. Penetration of surfactants and solvents into foliage has not received much attention. Formulation components may be important to consider in evaluating the penetration of substances into foliage, because this may alter the chemical potential of a substance in the tissues beneath the deposit.

- 4. Temperature. The effect of temperature has been discussed previously for both the diffusion coefficient and chemical potential. Temperatures has been somewhat neglected, both in the study of foliar penetration and in field studies of volatilization. Foliar penetration and volatilization should be studied simultaneously to accurately characterize the effects of temperature on the environmental fate of a substance initially in a deposit on foliage.
- 5. Humidity. Changes in humidity would change the chemical potential of a substance in the deposit if some of the deposit components are hygroscopic, e.g., humectants, surfactants, etc. Increased or decreased humidity may change the mole fractions of substances in deposits, and the physical qualities of deposits in terms of hydrophobicity. These effects would in turn change chemical potentials of substances in deposits.

Humidity may also affect the physiology of the leaf, particularly stomatal aperature. Hydration of certain cuticular components and structures may enhance penetration of some ionic and polar substances.

- 6. Photodegradation. Photodegradation could affect both volatilization and foliar penetration, because it would decrease the chemical potential of a substance by decreasing its mole fraction in the deposit. This effect would depend on the photodegradation rate relative to the rates of foliar penetration and volatilization and the sign of the activity coefficient. Because the chemical potential of a chemical could be changed in the deposit by photodegradation, diffusion of a substance into the leaf and air compartments would also be changed, and the steady state quantity of the substance in tissues altered. Photoproducts also diffuse into leaf tissues and presumably the atmosphere. The presence of the photoproducts in the leaf and deposit compartments could influence the chemical potential of the parent compound in those compartments.
- 7. Degradation in the Leaf. Degradation of a parent compound by metabolism and other processes in leaf tissues would change the activity of the parent compound in the tissues. It should be remembered that esters are a separate chemical species from acid compounds, and thus the chemical potential of the two and

their mole fractions are distinct. With high rates of compound degradation in tissues, a greater quantity of the substance would be expected to penetrate into leaf tissues. The influence of other processes such as volatilization and photodegradation might result in this behavior not being observed.

8. Process Interactions. The balance between foliar penetration and volatilization should be considered. For instance, a substance that volatilized rapidly into the air could reduce the amount of foliar penetration, because it decreases the concentration gradient between the deposit and leaf tissues. The opposite situation of greater foliar penetration reducing the amount of a chemical that volatilized may also occur.

The chemical potential concept, means that in the ternary leaf-deposit-air system, the rate that a compound moves from the central deposit into one compartment will influence the rate the material moves into another compartment. Degradative processes will decrease a chemical's mole fraction in the deposit, which would lower its chemical potential.

C. Fate Modeling Approaches

Modeling the environmental fate of chemicals initially within pesticide deposits on foliage is a relatively recent endeavor. Models are important, however, to predict the short-term disposition of substances from pesticide deposits on foliage into the air and leaf tissues or via degradation. The two modeling approaches used are a compartmental residue transfer model and a mass balance approach. Models will need to be developed for each combination of plant species and pesticide spray mix because of the uniqueness inherent in each situation.

McCall et al. (1986a), McCall et al. (1986b); McCall (1988), and Hamburg and McCall (1988) have used a compartment model approach. The experiments are conducted in a microcosm. Different isothermal temperature regimes are used to build the data base. Quantities of the chemical are measured in air samples, foliar tissues, and the surface deposit at different times after application. From a special analytical computer package, the rates of mass transfer between compartments and metabolism are determined. The disposition of the pesticide over time is used to determine the rates of transfer at different temperatures. Outdoor tests are then conducted to determine the actual behavior of the pesticide under field conditions to verify the laboratory results. Field experiments demonstrated that the models accurately depicted field behavior.

A controlled environment chamber has been used to determine the quantities of triclopyr penetrating foliage, remaining in surface deposits, and lost from the system in ultraviolet light and the dark (Bentson 1989). Isothermal temperature regimes were used to develop data on the losses and disposition of triclopyr. Mass balance coefficients (MBCs) were calculated: $K_{1t} = n_{Lt}/(n_{Dt} + n_{Ft})$; $K_{2t} = n_{Ft}/(n_{Dt} + n_{Lt})$ where K_{1t} is the MBC for the quantity lost at time t, K_{2t} is the

MBC of the quantity that penetrates foliage, n_{Lt} is the moles that were lost, n_{Dt} is the moles remaining in the deposit, and n_{Ft} is the moles that penetrated foliage. Derivatives of linear regressions of MBCs versus time were used to determine rate of change of the MBCs at different temperatures in the light and dark. The MBCs are dimensionless and can be used for any quantity applied, so long as the chemical concentration is the same as used experimentally. Field exposures were used to validate the laboratory data. Models accurately predicted the disposition of triclopyr under outdoor conditions.

Further work is needed in modeling the fate of chemicals initially within pesticide deposits on foliage. The ternary compartment system presents a complex chemical environment for which a developed physical chemical perspective is lacking.

D. Experimental Protocols

It is evident from preceding sections that determination of the disposition of a substance from pesticide deposits on foliage must look at many simultaneous processes. Investigations of single processes will not yield data useful for predicting environmental fate under the range of field conditions deposits are exposed. Competing processes may significantly change the rate of a single process. Therefore levels of residues in different compartments must be determined over the range of conditions and times of significant change in the field.

Environmental control requires the use of microcosms or growth chambers to develop adequate data on the short-term fate of chemicals in pesticide deposits on foliage. Isothermal conditions are desirable, because the change in residue levels in each compartment are easily quantified. Data from a number of isothermal temperature regimes is more easily accommodated in models and statistical analyses. Other factor levels, e.g., humidity, light intensity, and soil moisture, can also be controlled closely near single levels in a microcosm. Times of sampling and the total duration of experimental treatments should be chosen to depict the change in residue quantities until changes become analytically insignificant. Once the disposition of a chemical from a pesticide deposit on foliage is determined at each combination of factors and times, the most important factors can be determined. The use of factorial experimental designs for this purpose has begun to increase (Bentson 1989; Willingham and Graham 1988).

Laboratory model validation is important. Field exposures are necessary to ensure that the laboratory data are adequate and that the models accurately depict field behavior of a chemical. Field exposures may show that a factor not controlled in the laboratory is actually of significance.

VI. Conclusion

The environmental fate and dynamics of substances associated with pesticide deposits on foliage have received little attention. Foliage is often the initial site of pesticide deposition. The dynamics of pesticide dissipation and degradation in

association with foliar deposits is crucial in determining the ultimate fate of pesticides and other substances in the environment. Where there has been considerable development of theory and analytical methodologies for modeling the environmental fate of substances in soils, the atmosphere, and water, virtually no development has occurred for materials associated with foliar deposits. Much of the research to date on processes associated with the fate of substances in foliar deposits has been flawed in terms of lack of (1) specificity of the residue detected, (2) the source of the residues, (3) control or monitoring of meteorological and other environmental conditions, or (4) consideration of other processes besides those under investigation.

The subject of environmental fate of substances in pesticide deposits on foliage will be a fruitful area of future research. Further study should greatly increase our understanding of this aspect of the environmental fate of pesticides. Models developed from such research will be useful for evaluating foliar penetration of herbicides and other xenobiotic substances, the prediction of dislodgeable residue quantities remaining after various times under specific environmental regimes, and ultimately the development of better exposure assessments for sensitive organisms, and people.

Summary

The literature on the fate of chemicals in pesticide deposits on foliage is reviewed for foliar penetration, volatilization, and photodegradation. The literature on foliar penetration of chemicals, primarily herbicides, is well developed. The environmental fate of substances, however, is not considered in most studies of foliar penetration. Foliar penetration is often studied with herbicides in deposits that are not typical of those applied in the field. Plant material is frequently grown in a greenhouse or growth chamber. The effects of temperature and humidity are rarely studied for foliar penetration. Therefore most information that is generated from foliar penetration studies does not represent the actual behavior a substance would show in the field.

Volatilization and photodegradation of substances in pesticide deposits on foliage have not been the focus of much research. Volatilization and photodegradation can potentially alter the foliar penetration of herbicides, and significantly affect the disposition of chemicals from deposits on foliage. Integrated study of foliar penetration, volatilization, and photodegradation is necessary to accurately describe the field behavior of substances and to develop reentry guidelines.

The concept of chemical potential is a tool for generating hypotheses and in the development of experimental protocols to evaluate the fate of chemicals in pesticide deposits on foliage. Several recent protocols and modeling techniques that have been used to study the fate of substances in foliar pesticide deposits are discussed.

References

- Akey WC, Morrison IN (1983) Effect of moisture stress on wild oat (*Avena fatua* L.) response to diclofop. Weed Sci 31:247-253.
- Babiker AGT, Duncan HJ (1975) Penetration of bean leaves by asulam as influenced by adjuvants and humidity. Pestic Sci 6:655-664.
- Baker EA (1980) Effect of cuticular components on foliar penetration. Pestic Sci 11:367-370.
- Baker EA, Hunt GM (1988) Factors affecting foliar penetration and translocation of pesticides. In: Cross B, Scher HB (eds.) Pesticide Formulations: Innovations and Developments. ACS Symposium Series 371. American Chemical Society, Washington D.C., pp 8-21
- Baskin AD, Walker EA (1953) The response of tomato plants to vapors of 2,4-D and 2,4,5-T formulations at normal and higher temperatures. Weeds 2:280-287.
- Baur JR, Bovey RW, Baker RD, Riley I (1971) Absorption and penetration of picloram and 2.4,5-T into detached live oak leaves. Weed Sci 19:138-141.
- Bentson KP (1989) Fate of Xenobiotic Substances in Pesticide Deposits. Ph.D. Thesis. Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR, pp 95-137.
- Bloomberg JR, Wax LM (1978) Absorption and translocation of mefluidide by soybean (*Glycine max*), common cocklebur (*Xanthium pennsylvanicum*), and giant foxtail (*Setaria faberi*). Weed Sci 26:434-440.
- Boldt PF, Putnam AR (1980) Selectivity mechanisms for foliar applications of diclofopmethyl. I. retention, absorption, translocation, and volatility. Weed Sci 28:474-477.
- Bovey RW, Hein H Jr, Meyer RE (1983) Absorption and translocation of triclopyr in honey mesquite (*Prosopis juliflora* var. *glandulosa*). Weed Sci 31:807-812.
- Bovey RW, Hein H Jr, Meyer RE, Bouse LF (1987) Influence of adjuvants on the deposition, absorption, and translocation of clopyralid in honey mesquite (*Prosopis glandulosa* Torr.). Weed Sci 35:253-258.
- Caseley JC, Coupland D (1980) Effect of simulated rain on retention, distribution, uptake, movement, and activity of differzoquat applied to *Avena fatua*. Ann Appl Biol 96:111-118.
- Chamel A (1986) Foliar absorption of herbicides: study of cuticular penetration using isolated cuticles. Physiol Veg 24:491-508.
- Choudry GG, Webster GRB (1985) Protocol guidelines for the investigations of photochemical fate of pesticides in water, air, and soils. Residue Reviews 96:79-136.
- Crosby DG (1976) Herbicide photodecomposition. In: Herbicides: Chemistry, Degradation, and Mode of Action. Kearney PC, Kaufman DD (eds.). Marcel Dekker Inc., New York, pp 835-890.
- Crosby DG, Wong AS (1977) Environmental degradation of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodeibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD). Science 195:1337-1338.
- Davies WJ, Blackman PG, Mansfield TA (1983) Manipulation of stomatal behavior and plant water status to increase herbicide effect. Aspects Appl Biol 4:197-205.
- de Ruiter H, Verbeek MAM, Uffing AJM (1988) Mode of action of a nonionic and cationic surfactant in relation to glyphosate. In: Cross B, Scher HB (eds.) Pesticide Formulations: Innovations and Developments. ACS Symposium Series 371. American Chemical Society, Washington D.C., pp 44-55.
- Devine MD, Born WH Vanden (1985) Absorption, translocation, and foliar activity of

- clopyralid and chlorsulfuron in Canada thistle (*Cirsium arvense*) and perennial sowthistle (*Sonchus arvensis*). Weed Sci 33:524-530.
- Ebeling W (1963) Analysis of the basic processes involved in the deposition, degradation, persistence, and effectiveness of pesticides. Residue Reviews 3:35-163.
- Eberlein CV, Behrens R (1984) Propanil selectivity for green foxtail (Setaria viridis) and wheat (Triticum aestivum). Weed Sci 32:13-16.
- El-Sebae AH, El-Aal MA, Marei ASM, Tantawy G (1982) Photolysis and degradation of thanite in cotton plants and artificial rumen. J Agric Sci Camb 98:1-5.
- Freed VH, Witt JM (1969) Physicochemical principles in formulating pesticides relating to biological activity. In: Pesticidal Formulations Research: Physical and Colloidal Aspects, Adv. Chem. Series 86. Gould RF (ed.). American Chemical Society Publ, Washington, D.C., pp 70-90.
- Gerber HR, Nyffeler A, Green DH (1983) The influence of rainfall, temperature, humidity, and light on soil- and foliage-applied herbicides. Aspects Appl Biol 4:1-14.
- Gillespie GR, Miller SD (1983) Absorption, translocation, and metabolism of diclofop by sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.). Weed Sci 31:658-663.
- Grover R, Maybank J, Yoshida K (1972) Droplet and vapor drift from butyl ester and dimethylamine salt of 2,4-D. Weed Sci 20:320-324.
- Haderlie LC (1980) Absorption and translocation of buthidazole. Weed Sci 28:352-357. Hamburg A, McCall PJ (1988) Formulation, structure, and physical properties: factors affecting the rate of penetration of yellow foxtail cuticle by a series of aryloxyphenoxypropionate herbicides. In: Cross B, Scher HB (eds.). Pesticide Formulations: Innovations and Developments. ACS Symposium Series 371. American Chemical Society, Washington, D.C., pp 56-76.
- Harper LA, McDowell LL, Willis GH, Smith S Jr, Southwick LM (1983) Microclimate effects on toxaphene and DDT volatilization from cotton plants. Agron J 75:295-302.
- Hartley GS (1983) Effect of formulation on vapour transfer. In: Pesticide Chemistry: Human Welfare and the Environment. Vol. 4. Miyamoto J, Kearney PC, Greenhalgh R, Drescher N (eds.). Pergamon Press, New York, pp 301-306.
- Hartley GS, Graham-Bryce IJ (1980) Physical Principles of Pesticide Behaviour. Vol. I. Academic Press, New York, pp 408-451.
- Hashimoto Y, Ishihara K, Soeda Y (1979) Fate of alloxydim-Na on or in soybean plants. Jap Pestic Sci 4:299-304.
- Hogue EJ (1978) Absorption and translocation of metobromuron and chlorbromuron. J Environ Sci Hlth Part B 13:323-339.
- Holoman S Jr, Seymour KG (1983) Laboratory measurement of pesticide vapor loss. In: Pesticide Formulations and Application Systems: Third Symposium. ASTM STP 828. Kaneko TM, Akesson NB (eds.). American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, pp 42-51.
- Hook BJ, Glenn S (1984) Penetration, translocation, and metabolism of acifluorfen following pretreatment with mefluidide. Weed Sci 32:691-696.
- Iwata Y (1980) Minimizing occupational exposure to pesticides: reentry field data—a recapitulation. Residue Reviews 75:127-147.
- Jackson MD, Lewis RG (1979) Volatilization of two methyl parathion formulations from treated fields. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 20:793-796.
- Joiner RL, Baetcke KP (1973) Parathion: persistence on cotton and identification of its photoalteration products. J Agric Food Chem 21:391-396.

- Jordan TN (1977) Effects of temperature and relative humidity on the toxicity of glyphosate to bermudagrass (*Cynodon dactylon*). Weed Sci 25:448-451.
- Jury WA, Winer AM, Spencer WF, Focht DD (1987) Transport and transformation or organic chemicals in the soil-air-water ecosystem. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 99:119-164.
- Kells JJ, Meggitt WF, Penner D (1984) Absorption, translocation, and activity of fluazifop-butyl as influenced by plant growth stage and environment. Weed Sci 32:143-149
- King MG. Radosevich SR (1979) Tanoak (*Lithocarpus densiflorus*) leaf surface characteristics and absorption of triclopyr. Weed Sci 27:599-604.
- Kitchen LM, Rieck CE, Witt WW (1980) Absorption and translocation of ¹⁴C labeled fosamine by 3 woody plant species. Weed Res 20:285-290.
- Knaak JB (1980) Minimizing occupational exposure to pesticides: techniques for establishing safe levels of foliar residues. Residue Reviews 75:81-96.
- Laskowski DA, Swann RL, McCall PJ, Bidlack HD (1983) Soil degradation studies. Residue Reviews 85:139-147.
- Lyman WJ (1985) Estimation of physical properties. In: Environmental Exposure From Chemicals. Vol. I. Neely WB, Blau GE (eds.). CRC Press Inc, Boca Raton, pp 13-47.
- Mackay D (1985) Air/water exchange coefficients. In: Environmental Exposure from Chemicals. Vol. I. Neely WB, Blau GE (eds.). CRC Press Inc, Boca Raton, pp 91-108.
- Makary MH, Riskallah MR, Hegazy ME, Belal MH (1981) Photolysis of phoxim on glass and on tomato leaves. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 26:413-419.
- Marcheterre L, Choudry GG, Webster GRB (1988) Environmental photochemistry of herbicides. Reviews Environmental Contamination & Toxicology 103:61-126.
- Matsuo H, Casida JE (1970) Photodegradation of two dinitrophenolic pesticide chemicals, dinobuton and dinoseb, applied to bean leaves. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 5:72-78.
- McCall PJ (1988) Effect of chemical structure, temperature, crop oil concentrate, and bentazon on the behavior of haloxyfop in yellow foxtail (Setaria glauca)—a quantitative modeling approach. Weed Sci 36:424-435.
- McCall PJ, Stafford LE, Gavit PD (1986a) Compartment model describing the foliar behavior of tridiphane on giant foxtail. J Agric Food Chem 34:229-234.
- McCall PJ, Stafford LE, Zorner PS, Gavit PD (1986b) Modeling the foliar behavior of atrazine with and without crop oil concentrate on giant foxtail and the effect of tridiphane on the model rate constants. J Agric Food Chem 34:235-238.
- McWhorter CG, Jordan TN, Wills GD (1980) Translocation of ¹⁴C-glyphosate in soybeans (Glycine max) and Johnsongrass (Sorghum halepense). Weed Sci 28:113-118.
- McWhorter CG, Wills GD (1978) Factors affecting the translocation of ¹⁴C-mefluidide in soybeans (*Glycine max*), common cocklebur (*Xanthium pensylvanicum*) and Johnsongrass (*Sorghum halepense*). Weed Sci 26:382–388.
- Mill T, Mabey W (1985) Photodegradation in water. In: Environmental Exposure from Chemicals. Neely WB, Blau GE (eds.). CRC Press Inc, Boca Raton, pp 175-216.
- Miller GC, Zepp RG (1983) Extrapolating photolysis rates from the laboratory to the environment. Residue Reviews 85:89-110.
- Muller F, Kang BH, Maruska FT (1984) Fate of chlorsulfuron in cultivated plants and weeds and reasons for selectivity. Mededelingen van de Faculteit Landbouwwetenschappen Rijksuniversiteit Gent 49:1091-1108.

- Nash RG (1983) Determining environmental fate of pesticides with microagroecosystems. Residue Reviews 85:199-215.
- Nash RG, Beall ML Jr, Harris WG (1977) Toxaphene and 1,1,1-trichloro-2,2-bis(p-chlorophenyl)ethane (DDT) losses from cotton in an agroecosystem chamber. J Agric Food Chem 25:336-341.
- Nobel PS (1983) Biophysical Plant Physiology and Ecology. W.H. Freeman and Co, San Francisco, pp 102-108.
- Norris LA, Freed VH (1966) The absorption and translocation characteristics of several phenoxyalkyl herbicides in bigleaf maple. Weed Res 6:203-211.
- Norris RF (1974) Penetration of 2,4-D in relation to cuticle thickness. Am J Bot 61:74-79.
- Nomura NS, Hilton HW (1982) Distribution of residues and metabolism of herbicide buthidazole in sugarcane from root and foliar treatments. J Agric Food Chem 30:232-238.
- O'Sullivan PA, Kossatz VC (1984) Absorption and translocation of ¹⁴C-3,6-dichloropicolinic acid in *Cirsium arvense* (L.) Scop. Weed Res 24:17-22.
- Petersen PJ, Swisher BA (1985) Absorption, translocation, and metabolism of ¹⁴C-chlorsulfuron in Canada thistle (*Cirsium arvense* L. Scop.). Weed Sci 33:7-11.
- Peterson PJ, Haderlie LC, Hoefer RH, McAllister RS (1985) Dicamba absorption and translocation as influenced by formulation and surfactant. Weed Sci 33:717-720.
- Plimmer JR (1976) Volatility. In: Herbicides: Chemistry, Degradation, and Mode of Action. Kearney PC, Kaufman DD (eds.). Marcel Dekker Inc, New York, pp 891-934.
- Quistad GB, Menn JJ (1983) The disposition of pesticides in higher plants. Residue Reviews 85:173-197.
- Reddy KN, Bendixen LE (1988) Toxicity, absorption, translocation, and metabolism of foliar-applied chlorimuron in yellow and purple nutsedge (*Cyperus esculentus* and *C. rotundus*). Weed Sci 36:707-712.
- Richard EP Jr, Slife FW (1979) In vivo and in vitro characterization of the foliar entry of glyphosate in hemp dogbane (*Apocynum cannabinum*). Weed Sci 27:426-433.
- Richardson RG (1975) Foliar penetration and translocation of 2,4,5-T in blackberry (*Rubus procerus* P.J. Muell.). Weed Res 15:33-38.
- Richardson RG (1979) Absorption, translocation, and toxicity of picloram in silver leaf nightshade (Solanum elaeagnifolium Cav.). J Aust Inst Agric Sci 45:263-266.
- Richardson RG (1980) Foliar absorption and translocation of fosamine and 2,4,5-T in blackberry (*Rubus procerus* P.J. Muell.). Weed Res 20:159–163.
- Richardson RG, Grant AR (1977) Effect of concentration and translocation of 2,4,5-T in blackberry (*Rubus procerus* P.J. Muell.). Weed Res 17:367-372.
- Riederer M, Schonherr J (1985) Accumulation and transport of (2,4-dichlorophenoxy) acetic acid in plant cuticles. Ecotox Environ Safety 9:196-208.
- Ritter RL, Coble HD (1981) Penetration, translocation, and metabolism of acifluorfen in soybean (*Glycine max*), common ragweed (*Ambrosia artemisiifolia*), and common cocklebur (*Xanthium pensylvanicum*). Weed Sci 29:474–480.
- Robinson J, Richardson A, Bush G, Elgar KE (1966) A photoisomerization product of dieldrin. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 1:127-129.
- Sargent JA, Blackman GE (1969) Studies on foliar penetration IV. Mechanisms controlling the rate of penetration of 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) in leaves of *Phaseolus vulgaris*. J Exp Bot 20:542-555.

- Sarode SV, Rattan L (1982) Dissipation of fenitrothion residues on cauliflower. Ind J Agric Sci 52:173-176.
- Schultz ME, Burnside OC (1980) Absorption, translocation, and metabolism of 2,4-D and glyphosate in hemp dogbane (*Apocynum cannabinum* L). Weed Sci 28:13-20.
- Seiber JN, Madden SC, McChesney MM, Winterlin WL (1979) Toxaphene dissipation from treated cotton field environments: component residual behavior on leaves and in air, soil, and sediments determined by capillary gas chromatography. J Agric Food Chem 27:284-290.
- Seiber JN, Woodrow JE (1983) Methods for studying pesticide atmospheric dispersal and fate at treated areas. Residue Reviews 85:217-229.
- Shafer WE, Bukovac MJ (1988) Studies on octylphenoxy surfactants: effects of concentration and mixtures on 2-(1-napthyl)acetic acid sorption by tomato fruit cuticles. In: Cross B, Scher HB (eds.). Pesticide Formulations: Innovations and Developments. ACS Symposium Series 371. American Chemical Society, Washington, D.C., pp 34-43.
- Shaner DL, Robson PA (1985) Absorption, translocation, and metabolism of AC 252 214 in soybean (*Glycine max*), common cocklebur (*Xanthium strumarium*), and velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*). Weed Sci 33:469-471.
- Sharma MP, Vanden Born WH (1970) Foliar penetration of picloram and 2,4-D in aspen and balsam poplar. Weed Sci 18:57-63.
- Sharma MP, Vanden Born WH, McBeath DK (1978) Spray retention, foliar penetration, translocation, and selectivity of asulam in wild oats and flax. Weed Res 18:169–174.
- Slade P (1966) The fate of paraquat applied to plants. Weed Res 6:158-167.
- Smith JH, Mackay D, Ng CWK (1983) Volatilization of pesticides from water. Residue Reviews 85:73-88.
- Spencer WF, Farmer WJ, Cliath MM (1973) Pesticide volatilization. Residue Reviews 49:1-47.
- Sundaram A (1985) A gravimetric method for determining the relative volatilities of non-aqueous pesticide formulations and spray diluents. Pestic Sci 16:397-403.
- Suntio LR, Shiu WY, Mackay D, Seiber JN, Glotfelty D (1988) Critical reviews of Henry's law constants for pesticides. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 103:1-59.
- Swann RL, Laskowski DA, McCall PJ, Kuy K Vander, Dishburger HJ (1983) A rapid method for the estimation of the environmental parameters octanol/water partition coefficient, soil sorption constant, water-to-air ratio, and water solubility. Residue Reviews 85:17-28.
- Takahashi N, Mikami N, Yamada H, Miyamoto J (1985) Photodegradation of the pyrethroid insecticide fenpropathrin in water, on soil and on plant foliage. Pestic Sci 16:119-131.
- Tanaka FS, Wien RG, Mansager ER (1979) Effect of nonionic surfactants on the photochemistry of 3-(4-chlorophenyl)-1,1-dimethylurea in aqueous solution. J Agric Food Chem 27:774-775.
- Tanaka FS, Wien RG, Mansager ER (1981) Survey for surfactant effects on the photodegradation of herbicides in aqueous media. J Agric Food Chem 29:227-230.
- Taylor AW (1978) Post-application of pesticides under field conditions. J Air Pollut Contr Assoc 28:922-927.
- Taylor AW, Glotfelty DE (1988) Evaporation from soils and crops. In: Environmental Chemistry of Herbicides. Vol. I. Grover R (ed.). CRC Press Inc, Boca Raton, pp 89–129.

- Taylor AW, Glotfelty DE, Turner BC, Silver RE, Freeman HP, Weiss A (1977) Volatilization of dieldrin and heptachlor residues from field vegetation. J Agric Food Chem 25:543-547.
- Taylor FE, Davies LG, Cobb AH (1981) An analysis of the epicuticular wax of *Chenopodium album* leaves in relation to environmental change, leaf wettability, and the penetration of the herbicide bentazone. Ann Appl Biol 98:471-478.
- Thibodeaux LJ, Scott HD (1985) Air/soil exchange coefficients. In: Environmental Exposure From Chemicals. Vol. I. Neely WB, Blau G (eds.). CRC Press Inc, Boca Raton, pp 65-89.
- Thompson N (1983) Diffusion and uptake of chemical vapour volatilising from a sprayed target area. Pestic Sci 14:33-39.
- Todd BG, Stobbe EH (1977) Selectivity of diclofop methyl among wheat, barley, wild oat, and green foxtail. Weed Sci 25:382-385.
- Veerabhadraiah GP, Rao SR, Udaykumar M, Krishnasastry KS (1980) Increase of penetration and translocation of foliar applied 2,4-D into the underground parts of nudsedge. Ind J Agric Sci 50:352-356.
- Waldecker MA, Wyse DL (1985) Soil moisture effects of glyphosate absorption and translocation in common milkweed (*Asclepias syriaca* L.). Weed Sci 33:299–305.
- Whitehouse P, Holloway PJ, Caseley JC (1982) The epicuticular wax of wild oats in relation to foliar entry of the herbicides diclofop-methyl and difenzoquat. In: The Plant Cuticle. Cutler DF, Alvin KL, Price CE (eds.). London, U.K. Academic Press, pp 315-330.
- Willingham GL, Graham LL (1988) Influence of environmental factors and adjuvants on the foliar penetration of velvetleaf (*Abutilon theophrasti*): An analysis using the fractional factorial design. Weed Sci 36:824–829.
- Willis GH, McDowell LL (1987) Pesticide persistence on foliage. Reviews Environmental Contamination Toxicology 100:23-73.
- Willis GH, McDowell LL, Smith S, Southwick LM, Lemon ER (1980) Toxaphene volatilization from a mature cotton canopy. Agron J 72:627-631.
- Wills GD (1978) Factors affecting toxicity and translocation of glyphosate in cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum*). Weed Sci 5:509–513.
- Wills GD (1984) Toxicity and translocation of sethoxydim in bermudagrass (*Cynodon dactylon*) as affected by environment. Weed Sci 32:20-24.
- Wills GD, McWhorter CG (1981) Effect of environment on the translocation and toxicity of acifluorfen to showy crotalaria (*Crotalaria spectabilis*). Weed Sci 29:397-401.
- Woodrow JE, Crosby DG, Seiber JN (1983) Vapor phase photochemistry of pesticides. Residue Reviews 85:111-125.
- Zabik MJ, Leavitt RA (1976) Photochemistry of bioactive compounds. a review of pesticide photochemistry. Ann Rev Entomol 21:61-79.
- Zabkiewicz JA, Coupland D, Ede F (1988) Effects of surfactants on droplet spreading and drying rates in relation to foliar uptake. In: Cross B, Scher HB (eds.). Pesticide Formulations: Innovations and Developments. ACS Symposium Series 371. American Chemical Society, Washington, D.C., pp 77-89.